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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report

The directors present thewr annual report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
The directors adopted International Financial Reporung Standards (IFRS) n the year The transition date to IFRS 1s
1 January 2009 Thas 1s applied to the consolidated financial statements only The Company financial statements
continue to be prepared under UK GAAP as permitted by IFRS 1 and the Companies Act 2006

Principal activities

The Company’s principal activity 1s te be the ultimate holding company for the Just-Eat Group (“the Group”} The
Group focuses on the provision of online takeaway ordering for restaurants and consumers around the world

Principal risks and uncertainties

The business operates n a fast moving and technical environment To protect aganst technology becoming obsolete
and to preserve and build market share, management has embarked on a recruitment drive to attract talented staff in
key business areas such as onhine marketing, technology, product and business development The Company 1s 1n a
strong position to preserve and build market share through a diverse and pro-active marketing effort and through
access to significant equity finance

The Group has significant operations outside the UK and as such 1s exposed to movements in exchange rates To
protect against a high level of exchange rate nisk the Group treasury policy 1s to source favourable exchange rate
deals in advance of sigmificant commutted foreign currency purchases (for example, acquisitions of overseas
operations) The Group does not currently enter into forward exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange
exposure

Business review

This has been another exciting year for the Just-Eat Group The Group’s turnover has increased by 96% from £9 6m
to £18 8m led by a 91% growth 1n order numbers from 4 4 million to over 8 4 million Just-Eat websites processed
over £140 million worth of orders 1n 2010 (2009 £77 million) The Group’s profit and loss account 1s set out on
page 10 During 2010, the number of delivery restaurants in the Just-Eat network increased from 7,400 to over
12,600, an increase of more than 70% We consider revenue, restaurant and order numbers to be the Group’s main
KPIs

The two Established Geographies (UK and Denmark) are operationally profitable and the Group’s strategy mn
2009/2010 and nto 2011 is to continue to invest all profits generated back into the wider business This model wall
ensure the aggressive organic growth of the Group 15 continued and, combined with the new equity funding, allows
the Group to secure future acquisitions 1n new and existing markets

This strategy has resulted in the order numbers outside of the UK and Denmark increasing by over 120% year on
year {excluding any adjustments for share ownership) During 2010, the Group opened new operations in Spain,
acquired 100% of EatStudent Limited (based in the UK) and increased its shareholding in the Canadian business,
Just Eat Canada Inc, from 50% at | Janvary 2010 to 71 9% at 31 December 2010 The overall cost of these
additional investments mn Just Eat Canada Inc was £547,877 funded by cash consideration The Group also
increased its holding n 1ts fixed asset investment in OnlinePizza Norden AB which operates in Scandinavia and
Eastern Europe from 7 62% to 8 59%

Following continued equity investment, in April 2010, Just Eat Canada Inc changed from being a joint venture of
the Group to becoming a subsidiary From the date control passed, this company contributed turmover of £164,217
to the Group Prior to 1 April 2010, the Canadian business was accounted for as a jomnt venture under the
proportional consolidation method

In conclusion, the directors are delighted with the continued growth and geographical expansion of the Group High
levels of organic and acquisitive investment will be maintained and/or increased during 2011




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Directors’ Report (continued)

Capital structure

The Group completed a funding round in March 2011 of £29 8 million £15 mihon of which was new equity 1ssued
by the company This funding, from Index Ventures, Greylock Partners and Redpoint Ventures, has been used to
continue the Group’s expansion In 2011 operations n Italy, India, Switzerland, Brazil and Canada (West coast)
were acquired Further mnformation on the acqusitions finalised during 2011 1s included i note 40 At the date of
this report, the Group controlled operations in 10 countries, had significant influence over the operations i two
countries and either a direct or imndirect investment in businesses that operated in a further four countries In the
recently acquired entities mentioned above, the Group will be implementing the business model that has been
replicated so successfully in its core European businesses

Details of the authorised and 1ssued share capital, together with details of the movement in the company’s 1ssued
share captital during the year are shown 1n note 25 The company has two classes of ordinary share which carry no
right to fixed income The company also has one class of preference share Additional details relating to the capital
structure of the business are included 1n note 25

Details of employee share schemes are set out 1n note 36 No person has any special nghts of control over the
company’s share capital and all 1ssued shares are fully pard

In 2010 the company 1ssued a 12% convertible loan See note 21

Gomng concern

At 31 December 2010, the Group had net current habilities of £2,286,673 and generated cash inflows from
operating activities of £1,091,057

In July 2009, the Company raised new equity funding from, amongst others, Index Ventures In March 2011, a
second funding round of £29 § million was completed with significant new equity being injected from Greylock
Partners and Redpoint Ventures with continued substantial support from Index Ventures This additional funding,
combined with debt facilities available to the wider Just-Eat Group, means that the directors have a reasonable
expectation given the economic uncertainties that the Company and Group have adequate resources to continue n
operational existence for the foreseeable future Thus, the directors continue to adopt the gomg concern basis in
preparing the annual financial statements

Dividends

The directors do not recommend a final dividend (2009 £mil)




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Directors’ Report (continued)

Fmancial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s activities expose 1t to a number of financial risks including credit risk, cash flow risk and hquidity nisk
The Group does not currently use derivative financial instruments to manage these risks and instead monitors risks
on a case by case basis to ensure effective action 1s taken to mitigate risk where necessary

Cash flow risk

The Group’s activities expose 1t prumarily to the financial nisks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates To
protect against a high level of exchange rate risk the Group treasury pohicy 1s to source favourable exchange rate
deals 1n advance of sigmificant foreign currency purchases (for example, acquisitons of overseas operations} The
Group does not currently enter into forward exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure

Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other recervables and investments

The Group’s credit nisk 15 primarily attnbutable to trade receivables The amounts presented 1n the balance sheet are
net of allowances for doubtful receivables and shown gross in the notes to the accounts An allowance for
mpairment 15 made where there 1s an 1dentified loss event which, based on previous experience, 1s evidence of a
reduction 1n the recoverabihity of cash flows

The credit risk on hquid funds 1s hmited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-ratings agencies

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with 1its mmimal exposure spread over a large number of
entities

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for hquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has established an
appropnate hquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short-, medium- and long-
term funding and hiquidity management requirements The Group manages liquidity nisk by maintaining adequate
reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and labilities Details of additional undrawn
facilittes that the Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk are set out 1n note 39

Directors

The directors, who served throughout the year to date of signing except as noted, were as follows
B Holmes

K Nyengaard

F Coorevits

L Bowden (appointed 16 March 2011)

Directors’ indemnities

The company has made qualifying third party indemmty provisions for the benefit of 1ts directors which were made
during the year and remain 1n force at the date of this report




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Directors’ Report (continued)

Directors’ interests

The directors who held office at 31 December 2010 and at the date of this report had the following interests in the
Ordinary A and B shares of the company (this has been calculated on a fully diluted basis)

Name of director 31 December As at date of
2010 signing

B Holmes - -

K Nyengaard - 231%

F Coorevits - -

L Bowden n/a 004%

Suppler payment pohcy

The group’s policy 1s to settle terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction, ensure
that suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment and abide by the terms of payment Trade creditors of the
group at 31 December 2010 were equivalent to 32 days’ (2009 39 days) purchases, based on the average daily
amount voiced by suppliers during the year

Charitable and political contributions

During the year the group made no charitable or polhitical donations (2009 ml, 2008 mil)

Employees

The Group’s employment policies are designed to ensure that the Group 1s able to attract the highest calibre of
employees from all sectors of the communities in which it operates This helps ensure that the Group competes at
the highest level with comparable companies The Group values diversity in the work place and 1s commatted to
providing equality of opportumity to all employees and potential employees It actively encourages continuous
traiming and skill development in all 1ts businesses

In the Group, the focus on advanced technologies requires a high level of technical expertise and management
works closely with vendors to ensure that employees are tramned appropriately Management 1s committed to
building an environment where each employee can fulfil their potential

The Group’s personnel practices ensure that every employee, wherever they work, whatever their role, 1s treated
equally, fairly and respectfully at all times Adherence to health and safety standards ensures that our people are
properly protected and cared for, wherever they operate The Group maintains consistent and transparent diversity
policies across all our markets We firmly beheve that career opportunity, recognition and reward should be
determined by a person’s capabilities and achievement, not their age, sex, race, religion or nationality

The policy of the Group for the employment of disabled persons 15 to provide equal opportunities with other
employees to tramn for and attain any position n the Group, having regard to the maintenance of a safe working
environment and the constraints of their disabilities

To support the Group’s commitment to open communication with employees, the Group discusses with employees,
through briefings and an international portal matters likely to affect employees’ interests Information on matters of
concern to employees 1s given through notices, meetings and reports, including information to help employees
achieve a common awareness of the factors affecting the performance of the Group




Just-Eat Greup Holdings Lumited
Directors’ Report (continued)

Auditors
Each of the persons who 1s a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that

» so far as the director 15 aware, there 15 no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors are
unaware, and

o the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make
himselffherself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are
aware of that information

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted 1n accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies
Act 2006

A resolution to reappoint Deloitte LLP will be proposed at the forthcorming Annual General Meeting

Klaus Nyen
Director

20 September 2011




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responstble for prepaning the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the group financial statements under [FRSs (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union and the parent company financial statements under United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice {(Umted Kingdom Accounting Standards and apphcable law) The financial statements are also required by
law to be properly prepared 1n accordance with the Companies Act 2006

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that [FRS financial statements present fairly for each financial year
the company's financial position, financial performance and cash flows This requires the faithful representation of
the effects of transactions, other events and condstions 1n accordance with the defimtions and recogmtion criteria for
assets, liabihties, income and expenses set out mn the International Accounting Standards Board's 'Framework for
the preparation and presentation of financial statements’ In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation wall be
achieved by comphiance with all apphcable IFRSs However, directors are also required to

e properly select and apply accounting policies,

e present information, including accounting policies, 1n a manner that provtdes relevant, reliable, comparable
and understandable information,

s provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in [FRSs are sufficient to
enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's
financial position and financial performance, and

» make an assessment of the company's ability to continue as a going concern

The parent company financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period In prepanng these financial statements, the
directors are requred to

¢ select suntable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

e make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

o state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and

e prepare the financial statements on the goimng concern basis unless 1t 1s tnappropriate to presume that the
company will continue 1n business

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the parent company financial statements
comply with the Compames Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

Klaus Nyengaard
Director
20 September 2011




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF JUST-EAT GROUP HOLDINGS
LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 December 2010
which comprnise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consohdated and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolhidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated and
Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity and the related notes 1 to 51 The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements 1s applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union  The financial reporting framework that
has been applied n the preparation of the Parent Company financial statements 1s applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report ts made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them 1n an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explamed more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and far view Our responsibility
1s to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Audsting (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s
Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit invelves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures mn the financial statements sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or error  This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the
parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In
addition, we read all the financial and non-financial mformation 1 the annual report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion

. the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2010 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended,

. the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union,

. the parent company financial statements have been propetly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Compames Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF JUST-EAT GROUP HOLDINGS
LIMITED (continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report
to you 1f, 1n our opinion
. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retums adequate for our audit
have not been recerved from branches not visited by us, or
the parent company financial statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
we have not recetved all the informatton and explanations we require for our audit

John Clennett FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Reading, Umted Kingdom

30 September 2011




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other administrative expenses
Long term employee incentive provision

Total administrative expenses
Operating loss

Other gams/(losses)

Investment revenue

Finance costs

Loss before tax

Tax

Loss for the year

Attributable to

Owners of the Company
Non-Controlling Interests

Note

10
11

12

Year Year

ended ended

2010 2009

£ £
18,825,690 9,616,068
(2,257,302) (1,164,274)
16,568,388 8,451,794

(17,396,367) (9,517,278)

(722,592) -

(18,118,959)
(1,550,571)
42,077

9,824
(82,176)

(9,517,278)
(1,065,484)
(226,124)

7,346
(145,807)

(1,580,846)

(1,430,069)

(52,403) (642,310)
(1,633,249)  (2,072,379)
(1,352,466)  (2,004,308)

(280,783) (68,071)
(1,633,249)  (2,072,379)

10




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Loss for the year

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

Fair value adjustment on Available For Sale financial assets
Exchange differences on Available For Sale financial assets
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive mcome

Other comprehensive income for the period
Total comprehensive ncome for the period
Attributable to

Owners of the Company
Non-Controlling Interests

28
28
28
28

Year Year
ended ended
2010 2009
£ £
(1,633,249) (2,072,379
119,057 (606,801)
45,749 -
27,198 -
(19,696) -
172,308 (606,801)
(1,460,941) (2,679,180)
(1,373,722) (2,611,109
(87,219) (68,071)
(1,460,941) (2,679,180)

11




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Consohdated Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2010

Non-current assets

Goodwill

Other mtangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other recervables
Cash and bank balances
Current tax asset

Total assets

Current habihities
Trade and other payables
Current tax hiabilities
Borrowimngs

Provisions

Deferred revenue

Net current liabilities

Non-current habihties
Borrowings

Deferred tax habilities
Deferred revenue

Liability for share based payments

Total habilities

Net assets / (liabilities)

Note

13
14
15
18

19
20

23

21
24
38

21
22
38

24,36

2010 2009 2008
£ £ £
1,828,129 1,920,518 2,094,004
422,046 125,704 70,258
1,986,111 1,199,866 626,488
418,952 288,839 -
4655238 3,534,927 2,790,840
48,815 47,881 33,360
2,253,664 1,484,639 835,008
5,032,170 4,218,775 2,263,854
217,298 - -
7,551,947 5,751,295 3,132,222
12,207,185 9,286,222 5,923,062
6,123,725 4,261,932 2,108,046
- 521,993 485,033
2,122,922 658,774 3,951,598
1,036,592 - -
555,381 409,278 214,801
9,838,620 5,851,977 6,759,478

(2,286,673)  (100,682) (3,627,256)
76,860 45,977 -
102,182 4,784 4,545
598,981 287,494 114,876

. 314,000 184,000
778,023 652,255 303,421
10,616,643 6,504,232 7,062,899

1,590,542 2,781,990 (1,139,837)

12




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)

As at 31 December 2010

Equity

Share capital

Share premium account
Merger reserve

Other reserves

Share based payment reserve
Retained earnings

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company

Non-Controlling Interest

Total equity/(deficit)

Note
25
26
27
28

29

30

2010
£

1,369
4,679,500
1,921,180
106,544
75,887

2009 2008

£ £

1,327 1,000

4,679,500 -
1,921,180

(65,764) 541,037

(5,038,648) (3,686,182) (1,681,874)

1,745,832 2,850,061 (1,139,837)
(155,290)  (68,071) ;
1,590,542 2,781,990 (1,139,837)

The financial statements of Just-Eat Group Heldings Limited (Registration number 06947854) were approved by the

board of directors and authorised for 1ssue on30 September 201 1

Klaus Nyengaard
Director

30 September 2011

They were signed on its behalf by

13
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Consohdated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Net cash from operating activities

Investing activities

Interest recerved

Disposal of subsidiary

[ncrease investment in OnlineP1zza Norden AB
Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of [P, patents and customer lists

Net cash used in investing activities
Fmancing activities

Increase 1n borrowings
Repayments of borrowings

Net proceeds anising on 1ssiee and cancellation of shares

Increase in bank overdrafts
Net cash from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Note
34

10
32
18
33
15
14

21
21

26,27

21

Year Year
ended ended
2010 2009
£ £

1,091,057 (28,820)

9,824 7,346
- (247,578)

(57,166) -
28,947 .
(1,613,000) (1,076,543
- (74,536)

(1,631,395) (1,391,311)

1,094,560 -

- (1,197,552)
42 4,679,827

510,728 -

1,605,330 3,482,235

1,064,992 2,062,104
4,218,775 2,263,854

(251,597)  (107,183)

5,032,170 4,218,775

15




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the consohdated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

1 Sigmificant accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with IFRSs adopted by the European Union and
therefore the Group financial statements comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation The directors adopted
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 1n the year The transition date to IFRS 1s 1 January 2009 apphed
to the consolidated financial statements only The Company financial statements continue to be prepared under UK
GAAP as permitted by [FRS 1 and the Companies Act 2006

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial
mstruments Historical cost 15 generally based on the fair value of the consideration given m exchange for the assets
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by
the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year Control 1s achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 1investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities
The Company also has mnterests in Joint Ventures which are accounted for under the proporticnal consolidation
method

The results of subsidianes acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with
those used by the group All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation

Non-controlling interests n subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein The interests of
non-controlling shareholders may be imtially measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets The choice of measurement 1s made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controiling interests 1s the amount of those
mterests at imitial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity Total
comprehensive mcome 1s attributed to non-controlling interests even 1if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of conirol are accounted for as equity
transactions The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes m their relative interests in the subsidiaries Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
nterests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received 1s recogmised directly in equity and
attributed to the owners of the Company

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal 1s calculated as the difference between (1)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (1) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwaill), less Liabihities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
nterests

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income n relahion to the subsidiary are accounted for (1e
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retamed earnings) in the same manner as would be requered 1f the
relevant assets or liabilities are disposed of The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control 1s lost 1s regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under 1AS 39
Fmancial Instruments Recogrition and Measurement or, when applicable, the costs on mnitial recognition of an
investment 1n an associate or jointly controlled entity
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

1 Significant accounting pohictes (continued)

Going concern

At 31 December 2010, the Group had net current habiliies of £2,286,673 and generated cash inflows from operating
activities of £1,091,057 The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future
development, performance and position are set out in the directors’ report on page 2 This also describes the financial
position of the Group, its cash flows, hquidity position and borrowing facilhities, the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for managing its exposure to credit nsk and hquidity nsk

In July 2009, the Company raised new equity funding from, amongst others, Index Ventures In March 2011, a second
funding round, which raised £29 8 million, was completed with significant new equity being injected from Greylock
Partners and Redpomnt Ventures with continued substantial support from Index Ventures This additional funding,
combined with debt facilities available to the wider Just-Eat Group and the convertible loan held with a related party,
means that the directors have a reasonable expectation given the economic uncertainties that the Company and Group
have adequate resources to continue i operational existence for the foreseeable future Thus, the directors continue to
adopt the going concern basis 1n preparing the annual financial statements

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method The consideration for each
acquisition 1s measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, hiabilities incurred
or assumed, and equity instruments 1ssued by the Group i exchange for control of the acquiree Acquisition-related
costs are recognised 1n profit or loss as incurred

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or lability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date famr value Subsequent changes in such fair values are
adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below) All other
subsequent changes 1n the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are accounted for in
accordance with relevant IFRSs

Where a business combination 1s achieved 1n stages, the Group’s previously-held nterests in the acquired entity are
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (1 e the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gan or loss, 1f
any, 1s recognised n profit or loss Amounts ansing from interests 1n the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that
have previously been recogmised in other comprehensive mmcome are reclassified to profit or loss, where such
treatment would be appropriate 1f that interest were disposed of

The acquiree’s 1dentifiable assets, habihties and contingent habilities that meet the conditions for recogmition under
IFRS 3(2008) are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that

e deferred tax assets or habilities and habilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 fncome Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively,

* lhabthties or equity mstruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based payment
awards are measured 1n accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, and

» assets {or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale 1n accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
Jor Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard

If the mitial accounting for a busmess combination 1s incomplete by the end of the reporting period n which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the tems for which the accounting 1s incomplete
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or Liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recogmised as of that date
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

1 Sigmificant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The measurement period 15 the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, and 1s subject to a maximum of one year

Jomt Ventures

The Group has investments m jomntly controlled entities and applies the proportional consolidation method of
accounting to 1ts interest in those entities Interests in the joint venture are presented using the line-by-line format for
proportional consolidation Aggregate amounts of current and long-term assets and habilities, income and expenses
are disclosed below Where applicable, the aggregate amount of capital commitments and contingent liabilities are
also disclosed

Goodwill

Goodwill anising 1n a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control 15 acquired (the
acquisition date) Goodwill 1s measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling nterest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (1f any) in
the entity over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the 1dentifiable assets acquired and the habihties assumed

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s 1dentifiable net assets exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest i the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess 1s recognised immediately m profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gain

Goodwill 1s not amortised but 1s reviewed for impairment at least annually For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill 1s allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combmation Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for imparment annually, or more
frequently when there 1s an indication that the umit may be impaired If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit 1s less than the carrying amount of the umt, the impairment loss 1s allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the umit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit An impairment loss recognised for goodwill 1s not reversed 1n a subsequent period

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill 1s included in the determination of the profit or loss
on disposal The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate 1s described above

Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s derived from commission and JCT box mstallation and setup fees charged to restaurants JCT boxes are
order confirmation terminals situated at restaurant sites for the purposes of commumicating between end user
customers and restaurants via the central Just-Eat ordering infrastructure

Order revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales-
related taxes

Installation and setup fee revenue 1s deferred to the balance sheet and recognised on a straight line basis over the
useful economic life of the boxes, which 1s estumated as three years
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leasing
The group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to mmcome on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease except where another more systematic basis 1s more representative of the time pattern m which economic
benefits from the lease asset are consumed Confingent rentals ansing under operating leases are recognised as an
expense 1n the period in which they are incurred

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such mcentives are recognised as a
hability The aggregate benefit of incentives 1s recogmised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis,
except where another systematic basis 15 more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the nisks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee All other leases are classified as operating leases

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each group company are presented n the currency of the primary economic
environment 1n which 1t operates (its functional currency) For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements,
the results and financial position of each group company are expressed in pound sterling, which 1s the functional
currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and habilities that are denominated 1n foreign currencies are
retranstated at the rates prevailing at that date Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated n
foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined Non-monetary
items that are measured 1n terms of historical cost 1n a foreign currency are not retranslated

Exchange differences are recogrused m profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for

. exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement
1s neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore formung part of the net investment in the foreign operation),
which are recogmised mnitially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal or partial disposal of the net investment

For the purpose of presenting consolhidated financial statements, the assets and liabiliies of the group’s foreign
operations are translated at exchange rates prevaling on the balance sheet date Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate sigmficantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used Exchange differences ansing, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (1€ a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that ncludes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a
jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation attnbutable to
the Group are reclassified to profit or loss

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the consclidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Operating profit

Operating profit 1s stated after charging restructuring costs but before long-term employee incentive provisions,
foreign exchange gains/losses, investment income and finance costs

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due

Taxahon

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax
Current tax

The tax currently payable 1s based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in
the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes 1tems that are never taxable or deductible The group's hiability for current tax 1s calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 15 the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and labilities 1n the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used n the computation of taxable profit,
and 15 accounted for using the balance sheet hability method Deferred tax habilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised Such assets and habilines are
not recognised 1f the temporary difference anises from the imitial recognition of goodwill or from the imitial recognition
(other than i a business combination) of other assets and lhabilities in a transaction that affects nerther the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit

Deferred tax habilities are recogmised for taxable temporary differences ansing on investments in subsidiaries and
assoctates, and mnterests in joint ventures, except where the group 1s able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse n the foreseeable future

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 1s
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered

Deferred tax 1s calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability 1s settled or the
asset 1s realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted at the balance sheet date Deferred tax 15 charged
or credited in the income statement, except when 1t relates to mtems charged or credited 1n other comprehensive
income, 1n which case the deferred tax 1s also dealt with in other comprehensive income

Deferred tax assets and lhabilities are offset when there 15 a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
aganst current tax habilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group
intends to settle 1ts current tax assets and habilities on a net basis
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets
The Group has three classes of intangible asset Patents, Intellectual Property and Customer Lists
Patents, Intellectual Property and Customer Lists

Patents and Intellectual Property are included at cost and depreciated in equal annual instalments over thew useful
economic life, which 1s typically 3-5 years depending on the period over which benefits are expected to be reahised
from the asset Provision is made for any impairment

A Customer hist intangible asset 1s recorded as part of the acquisition accounting for business combinations or when an
assoclate 15 acquired or jont venture estabhished They are initially recorded at fair value and depreciated over the
useful economic life of the asset, which 1s estimated at 10 years This pertod of time the period over which the
restaurant estate acquired 1s reasonably expected to confer economic benefits to the Group Fair value of Customer
lists 15 established with reference to value 1n use calculations Cash flows and discount rates used in the value in use
calculation are risk adjusted to the extent deemed necessary by management to accurately reflect local nsks and
uncertainties associated with the asset

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment Depreciation is
provided on all tangible fixed assets, at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, of each
asset on a straight-line basis over 1ts expected useful life, as follows

Fixtures and fittings 33% per annum
Equipment 33% per annum
Motor vehicles 33% per annum

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of 1ts tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there 1s any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset 1s estimated 1n order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (af any) Where
the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs An intangible asset with an indefimite useful life 1s
tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there 1s an indication that the asset may be impaired

Recoverable amount 1s the hmgher of fair value less costs to sell and value 1n use In assessing value m use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the e value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted

If the recoverable amount of an asset {or cash-generating umt) 1s estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 1s reduced to 1ts recoverable amount An impairment loss 1s
recognised immediately 1n profit or loss

Where an impaimment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset {or cash-generating unit) 1s
mcreased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determmed had no unpairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating umit) n prior years A reversal of an impairment loss 1s recogmised immediately in profit or loss
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1. Significant accounting policies {(continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost comprises direct materials Cost 1s calculated
using the first 1n first out method Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution

Finaneial instruments

Financal assets and financial liabilities are recognised 1n the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument

Financial Assets

All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset 15
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as
at fair value through profit or loss, which are imtially measured at fair value

Fmancial assets are classified into the following specified categories financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or
loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity” investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and 1s determined at the time of mitial
recognition The Group currently only holds ‘available-for-sale” (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and recervables’

Available for sale financial assets

The Group has investments in unlisted shares that are not traded in an active market but are classified as AFS financial
assets and stated at fair value (because the directors consider that fair value can be reliably measured) Fair value 1s
determined n the manner described in note 39 Gains and losses anising from changes m fair value are recognmised n
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment
losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign exchange gans and losses on monetary
assets, which are recognised m other comprehensive income Where the investment 1s disposed of or 1s determined to
be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised m the investments revaluation reserve 1s reclassified to
profit or loss

Dividends on AFS equity mstruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends
1s established

The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated n a foreign currency 1s determined n that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the balance sheet date The foreign exchange gamns and losses that are recognised n profit
or loss are determined based on the amortised cost of the monetary asset Other foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Loans and recevables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted mn an
active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables” Loans and recervables are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment Interest income 1s recogmsed by applymg the effective interest rate,
except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immatenal

Impawrment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impawrment at each balance sheet date
Financial assets are impaired where there 1s objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recogmition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected

When an AFS financial asset 1s considered to be impaired, cumulative gamns or losses previously recogmised 1n other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or less 1n the period

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecogmses a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when 1t transfers the financial asset and substantially all the nisks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recogmses its retained interest m the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay If the Group retans substantially all the risks and rewards of cwnership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received

Financial habilities

Fmnancial liabihties are classified as erther financial habihties ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial habilities® The Group
currently does not hold any financial liabihties ‘at FVTPL’

Other financial habilities

Other financial habilities, including borrowings, are inially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs

Other financial habilihes are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognised on an effective yield basis

The effective interest method 1s a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial hability and of allocating
mterest expense over the relevant period The effective interest rate 1s the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments through the expected life of the financial hability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition

Derecogrtion of financial abilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or they expire
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derwvatrve financial instruments

The Group typically enters mto derivative financial instrument arrangements as part of its acquisition of subsidiary
undertakings and interests obtained m associates or jointly controlled entities

Denvatives are mitially recogmised at fair value at the date a derivative contract 15 entered 1nto and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date The resulting gain or loss 1s recognised n profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative 1s designated and effective as a hedging mstrument, in which event the ming of the
recognition wn profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship

A denvative with a positive fair value 1s recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value
1s recognised as a financial hablity A derivative 1s presented as a non-current asset or a non-current hability 1f the
remaining maturity of the instrument 1s more than 12 months and it 1s not expected to be realised or settled within 12
months Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 1t
1s probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obhigation

The amount recognised as a provision 1s the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation Where a provision
1s measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 1its carrying amount 15 the present value of
those cash flows

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing sumilar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity mstruments at the grant date The fair value excludes the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions
Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in note 36

The fair value determmed at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments 1s expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest At each
balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest as a result of
the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, 15
recognised 1n profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the equity-settled employee benefits reserve

For cash-settled share-based payments, a hability 1s recogmised for the goods or services acquired, measured 1nitially

at the fair of the hability At the balance sheet date until the liability 1s settled, and at the date of settlement, the fawr
value of the liability 1s remeasured, with any changes n fair value recognised n profit or loss for the year
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2.

New standards and mterpretations not yet adopted

At the date of authonisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not
been applied 1n these financial statements were i 1ssue but not yet effective {and in some cases had not yet been
adopted by the EU)

Amendments to [IFRS 7, ‘Fmancial Instruments Disclosure’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2011 Ths standard has not yvet been endorsed for use m the EU

IFRS 9 ‘Fmancial Instruments — Classification and Measurement’

IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements®

IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’

IFRS 12 ‘Dusclosure of Interests in Other Entities’

IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’

Amendment to [FRS 1, ‘Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS 7 disclosures for first time adopters’
Amendment to 1AS 24, ‘Related Party Disclosures’

Amendment to IFRIC 14, ‘Prepayment on a Minimum Funding Requirement’

IFRIC 19, ‘Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity [nstruments’

Improvements to IFRSs — 2010

The Directors anticipate (except IFRS 10 — 13, see below) that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations m
future periods will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group, except for IFRS 9 ‘Financial
Instruments’, which will introduce a number of changes 1n the presentation of financial instruments

IFRS 10 — 13 were 15sued by the IASB on 12 May 2011 and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013

These pronouncements have not yet been endorsed for use in the EU The Group has not completed 1ts assessment of
the impact of these pronouncements on the consolidated results, financial position or cash flows of the Group
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3. Cnitical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described n note 1, the directors are required to make
Judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and labilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant Actual results may differ from these estmates

The estimates and underlying assumputions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revisions to accounting estimates are
recogmised in the period in which the estimate 15 revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods The key assumptions concernimg the
future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date used in preparing these accounts are

Financial instruments

Dernivative financial istruments are carried at fair value 1n accordance with IAS 39 In determining the fair value of
denivatives, there 1s a degree of judgement involved For written put and call options valuations are performed based
on management’s best estimate of fair value with reference to discounted cash flow models and the Company’s
experience of arms’ length transactions with third parties

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwall and intangibles are impaiwred requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill has been allocated The value 1n use calculation requires the Company to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating umits and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value

Share based payments

Judgements are applied mn relation to estimations of the number of options that will vest and of the fair value of the
options granted to employees Estimates of fair value are made using widely recognised share option value models and
are referred to third party experts where necessary, in order to obtain an accurate valuation

Acquired intangible assets

An intangible resource acquired with a subsidiary undertaking 1s recognised as an intangible asset 1f 1t 1s separable
from the acquired business or arises from contractual or legal nghts, 15 expected to generate future economic benefits
and its far value can be measured reliably Acquired intangible assets, comprising trademarks and customer
relationships, are amortised through the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over their estimated
economic lives of between three and 10 years Significant judgement 1s required 1n determining the fair value and
economic lives of acquired intangible assets

Revenue recognition in relation to JCT boxes

Revenue 15 denived from commission and JCT box installation and setup fees charged to restaurants JCT boxes are
order confirmation terminals situated at restaurant sites for the purposes of communicating between end user
customers and restaurants via the central Just-Eat ordering infrastructure

Order revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts
receivable for goods and services provided n the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales-
related taxes Installation and setup fee revenue 1s deferred to the balance sheet and recognised on a straight line basis
over the useful economic life of the boxes, which 1s estumated as three years
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4. Revenue

An analysis of the group’s revenue 1s as follows

Revenues generated from activities

Investment income (see note 10)

Business and geographical segments

Class of busmess The Group has one class of business, the facilitation of
online ordeting of food and soft drinks for delivery restaurants and
associated activiies A geographical analysis of the company’s revenue
by destination 1s as follows

United Kingdom
Rest of Europe
Rest of World

5. Loss for the year

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangibles

Operating lease payments

Foreign exchange gain

Staff costs (see note 9)

Year ended Year ended
20190 2009

£ £
18,825,690 9,616,068
18,825,690 9,616,068
9,824 7,346
18,835,514 9623414
Year ended Year ended
2010 2009

£ £

9,434,052 2,828,363
9,194,627 6,777,298
197,011 10,407

18,825,690 9,616,068

Year ended
2010
£

757,254
99,401
533,282
(7,429)
8,059,820

Year ended
2009
£

459,970
19,090
287,044
(586,015)
4,221,434
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6. Other gains/(losses)

Loss on disposal of foreign subsidiary (see note 32)
Profit on deemed disposal of foreign subsidhary (see note 33)
Loss on sale of fixed assets

7. Long term employee incentive provision

Year ended Year ended

2010 2009
£ £
- (177,310
129,399

(87,322) (48,8]4;)

42,077 (226,124)

In 2008, a subsichary of the Group issued a cash settled share-based payment to certain employees A liability equal
to the portion of goods and services received 15 recogmised at the current fair value of each balance sheet date  Fair
value 15 determined based on an appropriate pricing model In 2010, these cash settled share based payments were
cancelled and replaced with a bonus scheme dependent on the subsidiary’s performance The charge in 2010 for this
cash settled liability, called the Long term employee incentive provision was £722,592 The charge recorded m 2009
was £184,000, but this was recogmised as a cash-settled share based payment charge — see notes 24 and 36 The total

liability recorded at 31 December 2010 15 £1,036,592

8 Auditors’ remuneration

The analysis of auditors’ remuneration 1s as follows

Fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audit of the group
Fees payable to the company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the group

Total fees

Year Year
ended ended
2010 2009

£ £
60,064 60,000
95,000 20,000
155,064 80,000
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9, Staff costs

Average full time equivalent persons employed during the year

Ther aggregate remuneration comprised

Wages and salaries

Social security costs

Pension costs

Share-based payments charge (see note 36)

Included within the above are the following amounts relating to Directors

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

The above 1s 1n respect of one director (2009 one, 2008 one)

10. Investment revenue

Interest revenue
Bank deposits

Total interest revenue

2010 2009
Number Number
201 109
201 109
Year Year
ended ended
2010 2009
£ £
7,257,673 3,698,259
676,954 293,464
49,306 99711
75,887 130,000
8,059,820 4,221,434
232,377 155,829
36,105 35,519
268,482 191,348
Year Year
ended ended
2010 2009
£ £
9,824 7,346
9,824 7,346

29




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limted

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

11. Finance costs

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans
Interest on convertible loan notes
Interest on loans to associates

Total interest expense

12. Tax

Corporation tax
Current year

Deferred tax (see note 22)
Temporary timing differences
Rate change

Year Year
ended ended
2010 2009
£ £
54,194 133,696
17,701 -
10,281 12,111
82,176 145,807
Year Year
ended ended
2010 2009
£ £
56,764 642,071
56,764 642,071
(4,345) 239
(16) -
(4,361) 239
52,403 642,310

Corporation tax 1s calculated at 28% (2009 28%) of the estimated taxable profit for the year Taxation for other

Junisdictions 1s calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions
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12.  Tax (continued)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows

Loss before tax on continuing operations

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 28%
(2009 28%)

Expense/(income) not deductible for tax purposes

(Profit}/loss on sale of mvestment

Adjustment to previous periods

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operanng in other
Junsdictions

Change mn unrecognised deferred tax asset

Deferred tax rate change

Tax expense and effective tax rate for the year

Year Year
ended ended
2010 2009
£ E
1,580,846 1,430,069
(442,637) (400,420)
31,105 (87,004)
(84,912) 50,197
2,668 -
(5,671) (194,770)
551,866 1,274,307
(16) -
52,403 642,310

A deferred tax asset has not been recogmised in respect of timing differences relating to tax losses and short term
timing differences as there 1s msufficient evidence that the asset will be recovered The amount of the asset not
recognised 1s £ £2,757 477 (2009 £2,453.215, 2008 £1,464,166) The asset would be recovered if sufficient

surtable taxable profits were made 1n the future

Year Year Year

ended ended ended

2010 2009 2008

£ £ £

Deferred tax asset not recognised

Accelerated capital allowances 88,207 71,973 (13,246)

Short term timing differences 232,719 60,414 116,283

Unrelieved tax losses 2,302,109 2,202,746 1,318,479

Unrelieved tax losses in joint venture entities 134,442 118,082 42,650

2,757,477 2,453,215 1,464,166
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13 Goodwill

£
Cost
At | January 2009 1,706,336
At 1 January 2010 1,706,336
Recognised on acquisttion of subsidiaries (see note 33) 32,383
At 31 December 2010 1,738,719
Accumulated impairment losses
At | January 2009, | Januvary 2010 and 31 December 2010 -
Effects of foreign exchange translation
At 1 January 2009 387,758
At | January 2010 (173,576)
At 31 December 2010 (124,772)
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2010 1,828,129
At 31 December 2009 1,920,518

At 31 December 2008 2,094,094

Goodwill acquired 1n a business combination s allocated, at acquisition, to the Cash Generating Umits (CGUs) that are
expected to benefit from that business combination Before recognition of umpairment losses, the carrying amount of
goodwill had been allocated as follows

2010

£

Just-Eat Canada Inc 12,079
EatStudent Limited 20,304

32,383

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently 1if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations The key assumptions for the
value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices
and direct costs during the period These assumptions have been revised in the year in hight of the current economic
environment which has resulted in more conservative estimates about the future Management estimates discount rates
using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
CGUs The growth rates are based on management’s past experience Changes in selling prices and direct costs are
based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market It 1s anticipated that sales volumes will grow
n all junisdictions over the forthcoming years

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management for

the next three years and extrapolates cash flows for the following two years based on an estumated growth rates This
rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets
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13.  Goodwill (contmued)

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows 1s 12 71% (2009 12 51%)

At the beginning and end of the financial period, the fair value of goodwill was substantially in excess of its book

value

14. Other intangible assets

Cost
At | January 2009
Additions

At 1 January 2010

Deemed disposal of proportionally consohdated joint-
venture

Re-acquusition of assets 1n subsidiary

Exchange movements

At 31 December 2010
Amortisation

At 1 January 2009
Charge for the year
At 1 January 2010

Deemed disposal of proportionally consolidated joint-
venture

Charge for the year on re-acquired assets in subsidiary

Exchange movements

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2010

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2010

At 31 December 2009

At 31 December 2008

The amortisation period for intellectual property and customer lists 1s ten years

Intellectual Customer
Property lrsts Patents Total
£ £ £
87,823 - - 87,823
- - 74,536 74,536
87,823 - 74,536 162,359
- (74,536) (74,536)
- 303,936 149,072 453,008
- - 13,178 13,178
87,823 303,936 162,250 554,009
17,565 - - 17,565
8,782 - 16,308 19,050
26,347 - 10,308 36,655
- (10,308) (10,308)
- - 70,306 70,306
6,215 6,215
8,782 20,313 - 29,095
35,129 20,313 76,521 131,963
52,694 283,623 85,729 422,046
61,476 - 64,228 125,704
70,258 - - 70,258

Patents are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which 1s on average three years
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15.  Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures and Motor
fithngs  Equipment Vehicles Total
£ £ £ £
Cost
At | January 2009 95,925 990,626 64,524 1,151,075
Additions 116,900 959,644 - 1,076,544
Exchange differences (295) 73 - (222)
Disposals (183) (45,807) (10,995) {56,985)
At 31 December 2009 212,347 1,904,536 53,529 2,170,412
Additions 233,384 1,369,502 10,114 1,613,000
Acquisition of subsidiary 1,573 27,932 - 29,505
Exchange differences (5,267) (24,669) - (29,936)
Disposals (799) (174,773) - (175,572)
At 31 December 2010 441,238 3,102,528 63,643 3,607,409
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2009 47,282 444782 32,523 524,587
Charge for the year 42,429 397,074 20,467 459,970
Exchange differences (170) (5,670) - (5,840)
Disposals (178) (358) (7,635) (8,171)
At 31 December 2009 89,363 835,828 45,355 970,546
Charge for the year 82,469 663,492 11,293 757,254
Exchange differences (3,715 (14,537) - (18,252)
Disposals (111 (88,139) - (88,250)
At 31 December 2010 168,006 1,396,644 56,648 1,621,298
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2010 273,232 1,705,884 6,995 1,986,111
At 31 December 2009 122,984 1,068,708 8,174 1,199,866
At 31 December 2008 48,643 545,844 32,001 626,488
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16. Subsidiaries

A hst of the significant nvestments in subsidiaries, including the name, country of incorporation, and
proporiion of ownership interest 1s given below

Representing: Incorporated FProportion of  Proportion of Proportion of  Nature of business
n voting rights voting nghts voting nghts

held held held

2010 2009 2008
Substdrary undertakings
Just-Eat Group Limited Gibraltar 100% 100% 100% Online takeaway portal
Just Eat Holding Limuted UK 100% * 100% * 100% * Online takeaway portal
Just Eat co uk Ltd UK 100% * 100% * 100% * Online takeaway portal
Biteguide GmbH Germany 100% * 100% * 100% * Onlne takeaway portal
Jusi-Eat Iretand Ireland 100% * 100% * 100% * Online takeaway portal
Just Eat Host A/S Denmark 100% * 100% * 100% * Online takeaway portal
Just Eat dk ApS Denmark 100% * 100% * 100% * Online takeaway portal
Just Eat no As Norway 100% * 100% * nfa Onhine takeaway portal
Just-Eat ca Management Limited Canada 100% * 100% * n‘a  Online takeaway portal
Just Eat Canada Inc Canada 719%* 50% * nfa  Online takeaway portal
Just-Eat Belgie BVBA Belgium 75% ¢ 75% * nfa  Online takeaway portal
Just-Eat Spain SLU Spam 100% * n/a nfa  Online takeaway portal
EatStudent Limited UK 100% * nfa n/a  Online takeaway portal
Just-Eat Sweden AB Sweden - - 100% * Online takeaway portal

Joint venture
Just-Eat Benelux BY Netherlands 50% * 50% * 50% * Online takeaway portal

Fixed asset investments
OnhinePizza Norden AB Sweden 859% * 762% * n/a  Online takeaway portal

* [ndirect holding by Just-Eat Group Holdings Lirmited

The Group holds 50% of the shares in Just-Eat Benelux BV When this shareholding was established, a put and
call option was entered into whereby the other shareholder has the option to sell 1ts 50% interest in Just-Eat
Benelux BV to the Group and the Group also has the option to buy the other 50% shareholding This option
becomes exercisable at any pomnt after 31 December 2011 once a mmimum EBITDA target has been reached,
for a price based on a predetermined multiple of reported EBITDA At 31 December 2010 the fair value of this
option was £ml (2009 £nil, 2008 £ml)

The Group holds 71 9% of the shares m Just Eat Canada Inc When this sharehelding was established, a put
option was entered mto whereby Just-Eat has the option to buy the non-controlling mterest i Just Eat Canada
Inc This option becomes exercisable at various points after 31 December 2014 for a price based on a fair value
valuation
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17.  Joint Ventures

The following are amounts included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and Income Statement 1n respect of the group
interests n joint ventures under proportional consolhidation

2010 2009 2008
£ £ £
Aggregated amounts relating to joint ventures
Non-current assets 22.861 108,246 25,992
Current assets 157,025 120,019 137,063
Total assets 179,886 228,265 163,055
Non-current liabilities - - -
Current liabihities 439,278 389,380 242,569
Total liabilities 439,278 389,380 242 569
Group’s share of net liabilities of joint ventures 259,392 161,115 79,514
Revenue 663,236 410,621 162,303
Expenses (814,715)  (680,024) (259,000)
Group’s share of loss of joint ventures (151,479) (269,403) (96,697)

The Group holds a 50% economic mterest (2009 50% 2008 50%) 1n Just-Eat Benelux BV It does not control the
subsidiary as 1t does not have the casting vote at the Board level

In 2009 a Group company (Just-Eat ca Management Limited) held a 50% shareholding in Just-Eat Canada Inc
During 2010 three separate equity mjections were made This resuited 1n the ownership increasing from 50% at 31
December 2009 to 66 7% at 1 April 2010 (at which point control was obtained) and to 71 9% in December 2010

The above have been treated as Jomnt Ventures and their results and balance sheets have been proportionately
consohidated For Just-Eat Benelux BV, proportionate consolidation has been used for 2008, 2009 and 2010 For
Just-Eat Canada Inc proportionate consolidation has been used up to the date that control was obtamed at 1 Aprnl
2010, after which the company has been treated as a subssdiary

18. Investments

2010 2009 2008
£ £ £

Available-for-sale iInvestments carried at fair value
Shares 418,952 288,839 -
Total Investments 418,952 288,839 -

The shares included above represent investments in unhsted equity securities that present the Group with a presence
European geographies in which it does not currently operate The Group holds a strategic non-controlling interest of
8 59% per cent {2009 7 62%, 2008 ml) in OnhnePi1zza Norden AB The mcreased shareholding i 2010 was the
result of an additional investment of £57,166 These shares are not held for trading and accordingly are classified as
Available for Sale The valuation was based on a value i use calculation A further investment was made 1n Apnl
2011 when the shareholding increased to 18 6% See note 40 for more details
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19, Inventories

2010 2009 2008
£ £ £
Finished goods 48,815 47,881 33,360
20. Trade and other receivables
2010 2009 2008
£ £ E 3
Amount receivable for the sale of goods 1,043,259 1,086,188 646,288
Allowance for doubtful debts (192,259  (121,115) (87,592)

851,000 965,073 558,696

Other debtors 76,470 59,337 53,946
Prepayments 951,194 223,452 43,468
Amounts due from related parties (see note 41) 169,362 28,628 19,515
Amounts due from Joint Ventures 205,638 208,149 159,383

2,253,664 1,484,639 835,008

Trade receivables

Trade receivables disclosed above are classified as loans and receivables and are therefore measured at amortised
cost

The average credit period taken on sales of goods 15 16 days (2009 37 days)

The Group has reviewed all balances and has made an allowance for debts which are considered unlikely to be
coltectable based on past default experience, and an analysis of the counterparty’s current financial position
Allowances against doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables

Trade recervables disclosed above include amounts which are past due at the reporting date but against which the
Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful receivables because there has not been a sigmificant change in
credit quality and the amounts (which include interest accrued after the receivable 1s over 30 days outstanding) are still
considered recoverable The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances nor
does 1t have a legal nght of offset against any amounts owed by the Group to the counterparty

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

2010 2009

£ £
Balance at the beginning of the period (121,115) (87,592)
Additional provision for doubtful debt (71,144) (33,523)
Balance at the end of the period (192,259) (121,115)

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the Group considers any change n the credit quality of the trade
recetvable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date The concentration of credit risk 1s limited
due to the customer base being large and unrelated

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables 1s approximately equal to therr fair
value
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21.  Borrowings

Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Bank loans

Loans from shareholders

Bank overdrafis

Convertible loan

Secured borrowing at amortised cost
Bank loans

Total borrowings
Amount due for settlement within 12 months

Amount due for settlement after 12 months

Total

Analysis of borrowings by currency:

31 December 2010
Bank overdrafis
Bank loans
Convertible loans

31 December 2009
Bank overdrafts
Bank loans

31 December 2008
Bank loans

Bank overdrafis

Loans from shareholders

2010 2009 2008
£ £ £
. - 518,370
. - 2,049 255
1,105,221 658,774 1,383,973
1,017,701 - -
2,122,922 658,774 3,951,598
76,860 45,977 -
76,860 45,977 -
2,122,922 658,774 3,951,598
76,860 45,977 -
2,199,782 704,751 3,951,598
Canadian British Danish
Dollar Pound Kroner Total
£ £ £ £
- - 1,105,221 1,105,221
76,860 - - 76,860
- 1,017,701 - 1,017,701
76,860 1,017,701 1,105,221 2,199,782
- - 658,774 658,774
45,977 - - 45977
45,977 - 658,774 704,751
- - 518,370 518,370
- - 1,383,973 1,383,973
- 2,049,255 - 2,049,255
- 2,049,255 1,902,343 3,951,598
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21.

Borrowings (continued)

The other principal features of the group’s borrowings are as follows

4] Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand The average effective interest rate on bank overdrafis approximates
6 88% per cent (2009 6 88% per cent) per annum
(1)  The Group has one bank loan, with a fair value of Canadian Dollar (C$) 157,635 This was obtained by Just
Eat Canada Inc 1n 2009 The loan was taken out on 20 July 2009 and matures on 20 July 2014 It was granted
by Royal Bank of Canada and 1s interest bearing at pnime plus 3% The loan 1s secured by a general security
arrangement covering all assets and guarantees and postponement of claims in the amount of C$ 43,223 signed
by each of the corporate shareholders of Just Eat Canada Inc Repayments commenced n 2009
(i) In 2008, the Group had a shareholder loan of £2,049,255 This was cancelled during 2009 as part of the
company restructure on § July 2009
(»v)  The convertible loan notes were 1ssued in two tranches on 22 October 2010 and 1 December 2010 The notes
are convertible into Ordinary A shares of the Company at any time between the date of 1ssue of the notes and
therr settlement date, or upon a qualifying financing event On 1ssue, the loan notes were convertible at 1 share
per £1 loan note
If the notes have not been converted, they will be redeemed on 13 October 2011 at par Interest of 12% will be
paid annually up unttl that settlement date
The net proceeds received from the 1ssue of the convertible loan notes have been split between the financial
lability element and an equity component, representing the fair value of the embedded option to convert the
financial liabihity into equity of the Company, as follows
2010
£
Proceeds of 1ssue of convertible loan notes 1,000,000
Equity component -
Liability component at date of 1ssue 1,000,000
Interest charged 17,71
[nterest paid -
Liability component at 31 December 2010 1,017,701

The interest expensed for the year 15 calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 12% to the hability component
for the period since the loan notes were 1ssued The liability component 1s measured at amortised cost The dafference
between the carrying amount of the liability component at the date of 1ssue and the amount reported 1n the balance
sheet at 31 December 2010 represents the effective interest rate less interest paid to that date

The weighted average interest rates paid during the year were as follows

2010 2009 2008

O/o OA) 0/0
Bank overdrafts 6 88 6 88 625
Unsecured bank loans 560 525 -
Shareholder loans - - 866
Convertible loan notes 12 00 - -
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22. Deferred tax

As stated 1n note 12, at the balance sheet date, a deferred tax asset has not been recogmised n respect of timing
differences relating to tax losses and short term timing differences as there 1s insufficient evidence that the asset will
be recovered The amount of the asset not recognised 1s £2,757,477 (2009 £2,453,215, 2008 £1,464,166) The asset
would be recovered if sufficient suitable taxable profits are made 1n the future

At 31 December 2008
(Debit)/Credit to the profit and loss account

At 31 December 2009

(Debit)/Credit to the profit and loss account
Amounts arising on acquisition on
subsidiary undertakings

At 31 December 2010

Analysed as
Non-current deferred tax hability

Balance at the end of the year

Dr/(Cr) Dr /(Cr) Dr /(Cr) Dr/(Cr})
Short term Fair value
timing Acquired movement on
differences ntangibles mvestment Total
£ £ £
(4,545) - - (4,545)
(239) - - (239)
(4,784) - - (4,784)
171 4,190 - 4,361
- (101,759) - (101,7539)
(4,613) (97,569) - (102,182)
2010 2009 2008
£ £ £
(102,182) (4,784) (4,545)
(102,182) (4,784) (4,545)
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23.  Other financial habilities
Trade and other payables

2010 2009 2008

£ £ £

Trade creditors 4,355,407 2,802,206 301,340
Other creditors and accruals 934,955 1,064,067 1,484,117
Other taxes and social security 703,868 272215 228,689
Amounts due to related parties 129,495 123,444 93,900

6,123,725 4,261,932 2,108,046

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs The
average credit period taken for trade purchases 1s 32 days (2009 39 days) For most suppliers no interest 1s charged
on the trade payables for the first 30 days from the date of the invoice Thereafter, interest 1s charged on the
outstanding balances at various interest rates The Group has financial nsk management policies in place to ensure that
all payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value

24. Provisions

2010 2009 2008

£ £ £

Employee cash-settled share based payment provision - 314,000 184,000
Re-classified from cash settled share based payments to

employee bonus scheme 314,000 - -

Addwional proviston in the year (see note 7) 722,592 - -

1,036,592 314,000 184,000

Current 1,036,592 - -

Non-current - 314,000 184,000

1,036,592 314,000 184,000

In 2008 a subsidiary of the Group 1ssued a cash settled share-based payment to certain employees A hability equal to
the portion of goods and services received 1s recognised at the current fair value of each balance sheet date Fair value
15 determined based on an appropriate pricing model In 2010, these cash settled share based payments were
cancelled and replaced with a bonus scheme dependent on the subsidiary’s performance This scheme was settled in
2011 for an amount equal to the proviston made 1n 2010
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25.  Share capital

Authorised
Just Eat Group Limited
Ordinary A shares 100,000 ordinary shares of £0 01 each

Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Ordinary A shares 13,000,000 ordinary shares of £0 01 each
Ordinary B shares 1,946,800 ordinary shares of £0 0001 each
Preference A shares 7,000,000 shares of £0 01 each

Issued and fully paid
Just Eat Group Limited
1,000 Ordinary A shares at £1 each

Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

109,244 Ordinary A shares at £0 01 1ssued on 8 July 2009

26,244 Ordnary A shares at £0 01 cancelled on 10 July 2009
348,500 Ordinary B shares at £0 0001 1ssued on 9 November 2010
65,400 Ordmary B shares at £0 0001 1ssued on 10 December 2010

49,732 Preference A shares at £0 01 1ssued on 8 July 2009

Total Share Capital

2010 2009 2008
£ £ £

} - 1,000
130,000 130,000 .
195 195 .
70,000 70,000 -
; . 1,000

- 1,092 ;

. (262) -

35 - -

7 - -

- 497 -

42 1,327 1,000
1,369 1,327 1,000

Ordinary A shares (par value of £0 01 each) entitle the holder to one vote per share held

Ordinary B shares {par value of £0 0001 each) do not entitle the holders to recerve notice, attend, speak or vote at any

general meetings

Preference A shares (par value of £0 01 each) are preferred convertible shares The holder 1s entitled to one vote for

each share held

Dividends must be distributed among Preference Senies A holders, Ordinary shares and, to the extent that the
aggregate amount of Qualifying Payments exceeds the Ordinary B Shares participating amount, Ordinary B shares
(pro rata to their respective holdings of shares accruing on the basis of a 365 day year)

Upon hiquidation, the distribution shall be first to Preference Series A holders, surplus assets remaining are split pro
rata between Series A Ordinary shareholders and Series B Ordinary shareholders

26 Share premium account

Balance at 1 January 2009
Premium arising on 1ssue of equity shares (1ssued 8 July 2009)
Cancellation of shares (cancelled 10 July 2009)

Balance at 31 December 2009 and 2010

Share
premium
£

10,266,323
(5,586,823)

4,679,500
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27.  Merger reserve

Balance at 1 January 2009
Recognised on 1ssue of shares (1ssued 8 July 2009)

Balance at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010

Merger
reserve
£

1,921,180

1,921,180

In July 2009 a group reconstruction was undertaken Under this reconstruction ordinary shares were 1ssued and
cancelled and preference A shares were 1ssued This was treated as a common control transaction under IFRS as the
ultimate shareholders and their relative rights were the same before and afterwards This reserve represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares issued and the nommnal value of the shares on the group

reorganisation i July 2009

28. Other reserves

Available
for sale Translation
reserve reserve Total
£ £ £
Balance at 1 January 2009 - 541,037 541,037
Exchange differences on translating the net assets of foreign operations - (606,801) (606,801)
Balance at 1 January 2010 - (65,764) (65,764}
Exchange differences on translating the net assets of foreign operations - 119,057 119,057
Fair value adjustment of Available for Sale investment 72,947 - 72,947
Deferred tax liability on Available for Sale investment (19,696) - (19,696)
Balance at 31 December 2010 53,251 53,293 106,544

Translation reserve

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations, which relate to
subsidianies only, from their functional currency nto the parent’s reporting currency, bemg Sterling, are recogmised

directly mn the translation reserve

Available for sale reserve

This arises on the revaluation to fair value of the Group’s mvestment i OnlingP1zza Norden AB See note 18
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29.  Retamned earnings

Balance at 1 January 2009
Loss attnibutable to the Group

Balance at 1 January 2010
Loss attributable to the Group

Balance at 31 December 2010

30. Non-controlling interest

Balance at 1 January 2009
Share of loss for the year

Balance at | January 2010

Share of loss for the year

Adjustment to Non-Controlling Interest on change of control Just Eat
Canada Inc (see note 33)

Other comprehensive income attributable to NCI

Balance at 31 December 2010

31.  Share based payment reserve

Balance at 1 January 2010
Credit to equity for equity-settled share-based payments

Balance at 31 December 2010

£
(1,681,874)
(2,004,308)

(3,686,182)
(1,352,466)

(5,038,648)

_—

£

(68,071- )

(68,071)
(280,783)

192,168
1,396

(155,290)

£

75,887

75,887

—_———
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32.  Disposal of subsidiary

On 18 August 2009 the company sold 1ts 100% interest in the ordinary share capital of Just Eat Sweden AB The
consideratton was for a 7 62% nterest in OnlinePizza Norden AB OnlinePizza Norden AB operates 1n similar
business in Scandinavia and Eastern Europe

The loss of Just Eat Sweden AB up to the date of disposal was £201,728 and for its last full financial year was
£182,057

£

Net assets disposed of 27,477
Intercompany loan written-off 176,200
Transaction costs 15,194
Total value of business disposed 218,571
Conswderation recerved
Fair Value of investment in OnlineP1zza Norden AB 288,839
Further consideration paid for the OnlineP1zza Norden AB investment (247,578)
Total fair value of consideration received 41,261
Loss on sale 177,310
Satisfied by
Cash and cash equivalents (247,578)
Fair value of shares acquired in OnlinePizza Norden AB 288,839

41,261

33.  Acqusition of subsidiary
Just-Eat Canada Inc

During 2010, a Group Company (Just Eat Canada Management Limited) made three separate equity injections mnto
Just Eat Canada Inc This resulted in the ownership increasing from 30% of ordinary share capital at 31 December
2009 to 66 7% at | Apnl 2010 and 71 9% at 31 December 201¢ The overall cost of this additional investment was
£547,877 Thus was entirely funded by cash consideration

This increased investment generated goodwill of £12,079 The consolidated results of Just Eat Canada Inc have been
included from the date on which control passed to the Just Eat Holding Limited, considered to be 1 Apnil 2010
Between 1 January 2010 and 31 March 2010, when the company was a joint venture, the results were proportionately
consolidated

The first equity injection cost £54,054 This did not result in a change of sharehelding This increase was applied to
the proportionately consolidated investment

The second mnjection resulted in the Group taking control of the Canadian business as the Group’s shareholding
increased to 66 7% This cash cost of this nvestment was £155,723 However, under accounting standards the Group
disposed of the proportionately consolidated business and acquired a subsichary The profit on the deemed disposal
was £129,399

The following table sets out the book values of the 1dentifiable assets and labilities acquired and therr fair value to the
Group at 1 April 2010, the date control passed and the associate became a subsidiary The additienal investment was
undertaken in order to increase the Group’s presence in this overseas markets
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33.  Acqusition of subsidiary (continued)

Just-Eat Canada Inc (continued)

Net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment
Patents

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Current tax habilities

Bank loans

Deferred tax habilities
Intangible assets — customer list

Goodwill
Total consideration

Satisfied by
Cash
Fair value of previously held interest and non-contrelling interest

Net cash (inflow)/outflow arising on acquisition
Cash consideration
Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Book value Fair value
£ £
45,735 45,735
129,126 129,126
22,100 22,100
198,287 198,287
(189,154) (189,154)
(77,944) (77,944)
- 258,798
128,150 386,948
12,079
399,027
155,723
243,304
399,027
155,723
(198,287)
(42,564)

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Just-Eat Canada Inc 1s attmbutable to the anucipated profitability of the
sale of the Company’s products and the anttcipated future operating synergies From the date control passed, this
company contributed turnover of £164,217 and operating loss of £486,419 to the Group Priot to 1 April 2010, the
Canadian business was accounted for as a joint venture under the proportional consolidation method

Had the business been acquired at 1 January 2010 the contribution to the group would have been turnover of £197,010

and an operating loss of £648,558
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33.  Acquisition of subsidiary (continued)

EatStudent Limited

On 26 October 2010, the Group acquired 100% of the 1ssued share capital of EatStudent Limited for cash
consideration of £20,000 EatStudent Limited 1s involved 1n the provision of onhine takeaway services, primanly for
the UK university student population This transaction has been accounted for by the purchase method of accounting
This acquisition was undertaken to increase the Group’s presence 1n the UK market

Book value Fair value

£ £
Net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment 7,123 7,123
Trade and other receivables 747 747
Cash and cash equivalents 6,383 6,383
Trade and other payables (59,695) (59,695)
Intangible asset — customer list - 45,138
(45,442) (304)
Goodwill 20,304
Total consideration 20,000
Satisfied by
Cash 20,000
Net cash (inflow)/outflow arising on acquisition
Cash constderation 20,000
Cash and cash equivalents acquired (6,383)
13,617

The goodwill arising on the acqusition of EatStudent Limited 1s attributable to the anticipated profitability of the sale
of the Company’s products 1n the student market and the anticipated future operating synergies from the combination

EatStudent Limited contributed £3,986 to revenue and an operating loss of £23,465 n the period between the date of
acquisition and the balance sheet date, 31 December 2010
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34. Notes to the cash flow statement

Loss for the year

Adjustments for

Deprectation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Share-based payment expense

Foreign exchange gamn

Movement 1in doubtful debt provision

Income tax expense

Employee bonus provision

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
{Gan)/loss on disposal of subsidiary

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Increase i inventortes

Decrease/(increase) i receivables

Increase/(decrease) in payables and deferred income

Cash generated by operations

Income taxes paid
Interest paid

Net cash from operating activities

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances

2010
£

5,032,170

—_——

2010 2009
£ £
(1,633,249) (2,072,380)
757,254 459,970
99,401 19,090
75,887 130,000
(7,429)  (732,983)
71,144 33,523
52,403 642,310
722,592 -
87,322 48,813
(129,399) 177,310
95,926  (1,294,347)
(1,271)  (17,021)
(772,131)  (726,242)
2,548,018 2,725,400
1,870,542 687,790
(697,309)  (570,803)
(82,176)  (145,807)
1,091,057 (28,820)
2009 2008
£ £
4,218,775 2,263,854

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or
less, net of outstanding bank overdrafis The carrying amount of these assets 1s approximately equal to their fair value
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35. Operating lease arrangements

The group as lessee

Minimum lease payments under operating leases
recognised as an expense 1n the year

2010 2009
£ £

533,282 287,044

At the balance sheet date, the group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows

2010 2010

£ £

Property Plant and

equipment

Within one year 480,064 230,302
In the second to fifth years mclusive 130,071 246,542
610,135 476,844

2009 2009
£
Property Plant and
equipment
136,539 97,899

65,388 102,376

201,927 200,275

36. Share based payments

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company has a share option scheme for certain employees of the Group Options are exercisable at a price equal
to the estimated fair value of the Company’s shares on the date of grant The vesting period varies, but 1s, on average,
three years Options are forfeited 1f the employee leaves the Group before the options vest Details of the share options

outstanding during the year are as follows

Number of
share
options
Outstanding at 1 January 2010 -
Granted during the period 1,092,650
Forfented during the period (2,000)
Exercised dunng the period {413,900)
Expired dunng the period -
Gutstanding at the end of the penod 676,750

Exercisable at the end of the period 71,131

2010
Weighted
average
exercise
price

(in £)

023
125
000
037

0381

2009

Waeighted

average

Number of exercise
share price
options (mm £)
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37.  Share based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the penod was £0 0001
The options outstanding at 31 December 2010 had a weighted average exercise price of £0 23 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 30 months In 2010, options were granted on 5 March and 18 November The aggregate
of the estimated fair values of the options granted on those dates was £149,716 In 2009, no options were granted The
mputs mto the Black-Scholes model are as follows

2010 2009
Weighted average share price 21p -
Weighted average exercise price 23p -
Expected volatility (based on FTSE 350 3 year) 20% -
Expected Iife 30 months -
Rusk-free rate 251% -
Expected dividend yields 0% -

The Group recognised total expenses of £75,887 related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions in 2010
(2009 ml, 2008 ml)

Cash-settled share option scheme

As stated in note 24, in 2008 a subsidiary of the Group issued a cash settled share-based payment to certan
employees A hability equal to the portion of goods and services received 1s recogmsed at the current fair value of
each balance sheet date The charge incurred in the year was £mil (2009 £184,000, 2008 £130,000) Fair value 1s
determined based on an appropriate pricing medel In 2010, these cash settled share based payments were cancelled
and replaced with a long term employee incentive provision dependent on the subsidiary’s performance This scheme
1s due to be pard out in 2011

38. Deferred revenue

2010 2009 2008

£ £ £

Ansing from the sale of the JCT box 1,154,362 696,772 329,677
Current 555,381 409,278 214,801
Non-current 598,981 287,494 114,876

1,154,362 696,772 329,677

Revenue 1s derived from commussion and JCT box nstallation and setup fees charged to restaurants JCT boxes are
order confirmation terminals situated at restaurant sites for the purposes of communmicating between end user
customers and restaurants via the central Just-Eat ordering infrastructure

Order revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts
recervable for goods and services provided 1n the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales-
related taxes

Installation and setup fee revenue 1s deferred to the balance sheet and recogmsed on a straight Iine basis over the
useful econormic hife of the boxes, which 1s estimated as three years
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39, Financial Instruments

Financial mstruments compnise both financial assets and financial habilities The carrying value of these financial
assets and habilities approximate their fair value

Financial assets in the Group comprise Available for Sale financial assets, trade and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents which are classified as other financial assets

Financial habilities 1n the Group compnse convertible loan notes and borrowimngs which are categorised as debt at
amortised cost Financial habtlities also compnse trade and other payables and provisions which are classified as
other financial habilities

Capital risk management
The Group manages 1ts capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equuty balance

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings, as disclosed in note 21, cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising 1ssued capital, reserves and
retained earmings as disclosed 1n notes 25 to 31

The Group 1s not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements

Sigmificant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the bases for recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset, financial hability
and equity instrument are disclosed n note 1

Financial nsk management objectives

The main financial nisks faced by the Group are credit nsk, hquidity risk and market risks, which include interest rate
nsk and currency risk The Board regularly reviews these nisks and approves written policies covering the
management of these risks The group does not enter into or trade financial mstruments, including derivative financial
nstruments, for speculative purposes
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39.  Financial Instruments (continued)

Categories of financial instruments

2010 2009 2008
£ £ £
Financial assets
Other financial assets
Cash and bank balances 5,032,17¢ 4218,775 2,263,854
Trade and other recervables 2,253,664 1,484,639 835,008
Available-for-sale financial assets 418,952 288,839 -
Total 7,704,786 5,992,253 3,098,862
Financial habilities
At amortised cost
Borrowings 1,182,081 704,751 3,951,598
Convertible loan 1,017,701 - -
2,199,782 704,751 3,951,598
Other financial habilities
Trade and other payables 6,123,725 4,261,932 2,108,046
Provisions 1,036,592 - -
Liability for share based payments - 314,000 134,000

7,160,317 4,575,932 2,292,046

Total 9,360,099 5,280,683 6,243,644

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose 1t primarily to the financial risks of changes 1n foreign currency exchange rates
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39. Fmancal Instruments (continued)

Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes transactions denominated 1n foreign currenctes, consequently exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arise

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denommated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the
reporting date are as follows

Liabihities Assets

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

t £ £ £ £ £
Euro 2,607,140 2,126,371 544,919 482,437 564,234 139,413
Canadian Dollar 893,357 193,159 - 88,512 19,422 -
Danish Kroner 7,626,445 3,523,737 3,252,953 8,513,970 11,147,036 9,008,178
Swedish Kroner - - 289205 - - 64,827
Norwegian Kroner 80,254 212,911 - 113,266 10,812 -

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group 1s mainly exposed to the Euro and Danish Kroner

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease n Sterling agamnst the relevant
foreign currencies 10% 1s the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the period end for a 10% change 1n foreign currency rates The sensitivity analysis includes external
loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group A positive number below indicates an increase 1n profit
where Sterling strengthens 10% against the relevant currency For a 10% weakening of Sterling against the relevant
currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below would be
negative

Euro impact Danish Kroner impact
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
£ £ £ £ £ £
Profit / (loss) 52,828 90,542 22,056 (12,891) (162,557 (118,256)

The Group’s sensitivity to foreign currency 1s the result of increased activity 1n the foreign owned subsidianes which
has led to a significant increase i foreign currency denominated trade payables and trade receivables
Interest rate risk management

The Group 1s exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating
interest rates The risk 1s managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate
borrewings

The Group’s exposures to imterest rates on financial assets and financial habilities are detailed i the hquidity risk
management section of this note
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39 Financial Instruments (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determmed based on the exposure to interest rates at the balance sheet date
For floating rate liabilities, the analysis 1s prepared assuming the amount of hability outstanding at the balance sheet
date was outstanding for the whole year A 10% increase or decrease of the mnterest rate 1s used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change n interest rates

If interest rates had been 10% higher/lower and all other vaniables were held constant, the Group’s

. Loss for the year ended 31 December 2010 would decrease/increase by £499 (2009 decrease/increase by
£106) This 1s attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings n its
Canadian subsidiary, and

. There would have been no effect on amounts recognised directly in equity

Other price risks

The Group 15 exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments Equity investments are held for strategic
rather than trading purposes The Group does not actively trade these investments

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the nsk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of 1ts counterparties are continuously momtored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded 1s spread amongst approved counterparties

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across geographical areas Ongoing credit evaluation
1s performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where appropriate, credit guarantee nsurance
cover s purchased

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties
having similar characteristics The Group defines counterparties as having similar characteristics 1f they are related
entities

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded n the financial statements, which 1s net of impairment losses,
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as no collateral or other credit enhancements are held

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has established an
appropnate hquidity nsk management framework for the management of the Group’s short-, medium- and long-term
funding and hquidity management requirements The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
banking facihities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and habilities Details of additional undrawn facilities that the Group
has at 1ts disposal to further reduce hquadity risk are set out below

Laquidity and interest risk tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with
agreed repayment periods The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay The table mncludes both nterest and principal
cash flows To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount 15 derived from interest rate
curves at the balance sheet date The contractual maturity 1s based on the earliest date on which the Group may be
required to pay
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39. Fiancial Instruments (continued)

Weighted
average
effective interest Less than 1 2-5
rate year 1-2 years years S5+years Total
% £ £ £ £ £
31 December 2010
Non-interest bearing 7,160,317 - - - 7,160,317
Variable interest rate
struments 600 27,244 25,829 31,622 84,695
Fixed nterest rate
mstruments 12 00 1,120,000 - - - 1,120,000
Fixed nterest rate
mstruments 6 88 1,181,205 - - - 1,181,205
9,488,766 25,829 31,622 - 9,546,217
31 December 2009
Non-interest bearing 4,261,932 314,000 - - 4,575,932
Vanable interest rate
instruments 525 12,839 12,278 26,172 - 51,289
Fixed interest rate
instruments 6 88 666,323 - - - 666,323
4,941,094 326,278 26,172 - 5,293,544
31 December 2008
Non-interest bearing 2,108,046 184,000 - - 2,292,046
Fixed interest rate
instruments 7 50 4,002,973 - - - 4,002,973
6,111,019 184,000 - - 6,295,019
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39. Financial Instruments (continued)

The following table details the Group’s expected matunity for its non-derivative financial assets The tables below
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will
be earned on those assets The nclusion of information on non-derivative financial assets 1s necessary to understand

the Group’s hiquidity nsk management as the hiquidity 1s managed on a net asset and hability basis

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate
%
2010
Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate
mstruments 040
2009
Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate
Instruments 040
2008
Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate
mstruments 040

Less than 1

year
£

2,672,616

5,233,457

£

2-5 years

£

S5+ years

£

Total

2,672,616

5,233,457

7,906,073

7,906,073

1,773,479

4,387,526

1,773,479

4,387,526

6,161,005

6,161,005

835,008

2,354,408

835,008

2,354,408

3,189,416

3,189416

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for both non-derivative financial assets and
liabihties 1s subject to change 1f changes 1n variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined

at the reporting date

The Group has access to financing facilities as described below, of which £0 7 miilion were unused at the balance
sheet date (2009 £0 8 mullion) The Group expects to meet its other obhgatons from operating cash flows and

proceeds of maturing financial assets
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39. Fmancial Instruments (continued)

Financing facilities
2010 2009
£ £
Unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call
- amount used 1,105,221 658,774
- amount unused 13,779 767,570

1,819,000 1,426,344

Fair value of financial instruments
Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost

The directors consider that the carrying amouants of financial assets and financial habilities recorded at amortised cost
n the financial statements approximate their fair values

Valuation techniques and assumptions appiied for the purposes of measuring fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows

e The far values of other financial assets and financial habilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market
transactions

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to 1mitial recognition at

fair value, grouped 1nto Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value 1s observable

¢ Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities,

s Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from mputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (1 € as prices) or ndirectly (1e dernived from prices),
and

s Level 3 farr value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
hability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

2010
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ £ £ £
Available-for-sale financial assets
Unquoted equities - - 418,952 418,952
Total - - 418,952 418,952

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the year As OnlinePizza Norden AB 1s not listed, a number of
assumptions were used to calculate the fair value of the shares held

39.  Fmmancal Instruments (continued)
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Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets:

Available for Sale
Unquoted equities Total

2010 2010
£ £
Balance at 1 January 2010 288,839 288,839
Total gams or losses
- 1n profit or loss - -
- 1n other comprehensive income 72,947 72,947
Additional purchases 57,166 57,166
Balance at 31 December 2010 418,952 418,952

The table above only includes financial assets There were no financial habihities subsequently measured at fair value
on Level 3 fair value measurement bases

All gam and losses included in other comprehensive income relate to unquoted equities held at the balance sheet date
and are reported as changes of ‘Available for sale reserve’ (see note 28)

Significant assumptions used in determuning fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Convertible notes

The fair value of the hability component of convertible notes 1s determined assuming redemption on 1 September
2012 and using a 12% nterest rate based on a quoted swap rate of 12% for a 12 month loan and holding the credit nisk
margin constant

Unhisted shares

The financial statements include holdings 1n unlisted shares which are measured at fair value (note 18) Fair value 1s
estimated using a discounted cash flow model, which includes some assumptions that are not supportable by
observable market prices or rates In determining the fair value, an eamings growth factor of 3 8% and a cash flow
nisk adjustment factor of 2% are used Cash flows were discounted at 12 74% If the discount rate used in the model
was increased by 10% to 14 01% while all the other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the shares
would decrease by £43,870
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40. Events after the balance sheet date

On 13 January 2011, a Group company (Just Eat Holding Limited) completed 1ts transaction with Hungryzone n
India This has resulted i Just-Eat Holding a 44 2% share of the Indian business (subsequently rebranded to Just-
Eat m) The transaction was completed for £161,077 settled in cash The transaction 1s structured so that the Group
has the ability to keep investing in Just-Eat in over the forthcoming years and has an option to buy all of the remaining
shares 1n January 2015 for a fee based on revenue

On 26 January 2011, the Group ncreased its sharcholding in Just-Eat Benelux BV from 50% to 55 8% This was
funded by cash consideration of £161,779

On 16 March 2011, Just-Eat announced 1t had completed a second funding round of £29 8 million with significant
new equity being injected from Greylock Partners and Redpoint Ventures with continued substantial support from
Index Ventures

On 5 Apnl 2011, Just-Eat announced 1ts partnership with Swiss based Eat ch Just Eat Holding Limited acquired 33%
of this business and will invest to further the development of Eat ch The imtial investment was £201,300 (settled n
cash) nising to £805,200 by 2013, if the expected performance 15 achieved

On 13 Apnil 2011, a Group company (Just Eat Canada Inc) completed its acquisition of 100% of YummyWeb Inc
Yummy Web 1s based in Vancouver, Canada and this acquisition enables the Canadian business to operate coast to
coast The acquisition cost £262,000 and was settled 1n cash

In May 2011 a new Group company, Just-Eat Italy Srl, was established This company purchased the trade and assets
of an Itahan based business, ClickEat it, an Italian start-up company n the online food ordering sector The deal cost
£611,820 and was settled 1n cash Just-Eat will continue to invest in the business over the next four in the further
development of the ClickEat it business, to further boost the online food ordering space 1n the already vibrant Itahian
e-commerce scene

On 18 August 2011, a Group company (Just Eat Brasil Servicos Cnline Ltda) completed its acquisition of the trade
and assets of RestauranteWeb a Brazilian based company The acquisition expands Just Eat Brazil’s market share and
capacity in Brazil The acquisition cost £949,221 and was settled in cash

In the period to 22 June 2011, the Group increased 1ts strategic holding in OnlinePizza Norden AB to 18 6% Total
consideration paid to obtain this stake was £1,619,518, which was settled mn cash 1n stages in the period to 22 June
2011
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41.  Related party transactions

Balances and transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been elimmated
on consolidation and are not disclosed m this note

Loans to related parties

The following amounts were outstanding at the balance sheet date

Amounts owed to related parties Amounts owed by related parties

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

£ £ £ £ £ £

Key management personnel - - - 162,274 - -
Happy Investments BV 129,465 123,444 19,515 7,088 28,628 82,630
129,465 123,444 19,515 169,362 28,628 82,630

Happy Investments BV 1s a related party through 1ts 50% shareholding 1n Just Eat Benelux BV and 25% shareholding
in Just-Eat Belgie BVBA

In July 2010 Just-Eat Group Limited loaned Mr M Rozendaal 189,000 euros (£162,274) Mr M Rozendaal 1s not a
director, but 1s considered to be key management personnel in Just-Eat Benelux BV The loan was made on the
proviso that the loan proceeds are to be used to acquure shares in Happy Investments BV (the other shareholder
mvelved i Just Eat Benelux BY) on the understanding that at a future date these shares will be transferred to Just-Eat
Group to increase its holding On 26 January 2011, the Just-Eat Group purchased 2,100 shares from Happy
Investments BV and this loan was cleared The amount of the hability including interest to the company at the
beginning of the year was £ml, the maximum during the year was £162,474 and at 31 December 2010 was £162,474

All other amounts owed by related parties, and amount owed to related parties originate in the books and records of
Just-Eat Benelux BV where the company has a number of balances receivable and owed with the company’s other

shareholder, Happy Investments BV and its directors

The Convertible loan notes (see note 21) are held by two related parties, Index Ventures and STM Fidecs Trust
Company Limited These are considered to be at arm’s length
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the consohdated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

42. Explanation of transition to IFRS

This 1s the first financial period that the company has presented its financial statements under IFRS The following
disclosures are required n the year of transition The last financial statements under UK GAAP were 31 December
2009 and the date of transitton to IFRS was therefore 1 January 2009

Reconcihation of equity at 1 January 2009 (date of transition to IFRS)

Effect of
transition to
UK GAAP IFRS IFRS
£ £ £
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 1,587,002 577,350 2,164,352
Property, plant & equipment 611,146 15,342 626,488
Investments 24,121 (24,121) -
Current assets
Inventonies 33,604 (244) 33,360
Trade and other receivables 947.460 (112,452) 835,008
Cash and cash equivalents 2,288,054 (24,200) 2,263,854
Total assets 5,491,387 431,675 5,923,062
Current habilities
Trade and other payables (6,570,830) (188,648) (6,759,478)
Non-current hiahlities
Accruals and deferred income (134,650) 19,774 (114,876)
Provisions (188,545) - (188,545)
Total habilities (6,894,025) (168,874) (7,062,899)
Net assets (1,402,638) 262,801 (1,139,837)
Equity
Share capital 1,000 - 1,000
Foreign exchange reserve 220,091 320,946 541,037
Retained earnings (1,623,729) (58,145) (1,681,874)
Total equity (1,402,638) 262,801 (1,139,.837)

The effects of transition to IFRS presented in the reconciliation above arise principally from the presentation of joint-
ventures using the proportional consolidation method under IFRS as opposed to the equity accounted method required
under UK GAAP
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the consohdated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

42, Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued)

Reconcihation of equity at 31 December 2009 (date of last UK GAAP Financial Statements)

Effect of
transition to
UK GAAP IFRS IFRS
£ £ £
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 1,388,627 657,595 2,046,222
Property, plant & equipment 1,151,030 48,836 1,199,866
Investments 127,456 161,383 288,839
Current assets
Inventories 47,059 822 47,881
Trade and other receivables 1,465,148 19,491 1,484,639
Cash and cash equivalents 3,387,903 830,872 4,218,775
Total assets 7,567,223 1,718,999 9,286,222
Current habilities
Trade and other payables (4,863,223) (988,754) (5,851,977)
Non-current habilities
Accruals and deferred income - (333,471) (333,471)
Provisions (318,784) - (318,784)
Total hiabilities (5,182,007) (1,322,225) (6,504,232)
Net assets 2,385,216 396,774 2,781,990
Equity
Share capital 1,327 - 1,327
Share premium 4,679,500 - 4,679,500
Foreign exchange reserve 233,654 (299,418) (65,764)
Merger reserve 1,260,056 661,124 1,921,180
Retained earnings (3,713,208) 27,026 (3,686,182}
Non-Controlling Interest (76,113) 8,042 (68,071}
Total equity 2,385,216 396,774 2,781,990

The effects of transition to IFRS presented 1n the reconcihation above arise due to a combination of factors The
foremost of these are, the presentation of joint-ventures using the proportional consolidation method under IFRS as
opposed to the equity accounted method required under UK GAAP, and the effects of the application of IFRS 3

(2008) to business combinations undertaken 1n 2009 as disclosed 1n the notes to the financial statements
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the consohdated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

42, Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued)

Reconciliation of income for the year ended 31 December 2009 (date of last UK GAAP Financial Statements)

Effect of
transition
UK GAAP to IFRS IFRS
£ £ £

Continuing operations
Gross profit 8,098,804 352,990 8,451,794
Operating expenses (net) (9,517,278

(9,693,004) 175,726 )
Operating loss (1,065,484

(1,594,200) 528,716 )
Share of associate’s operating loss (268,154) 268,154 - ¥
Loss on sale of subsidiary {177,310} - (177,310)
Finance charges net (105,285) (33,176) (138,461)
Exchange gans 697,780 (697,780) -
Loss on sale of fixed assets - (48.814) (48,814) *#*+
Loss before tax (1,430,069

(1,447,169) 17,100 )
Tax (642,310) - (642,310)
Loss on ordinary activities after (2,072,379
taxation (2,089,479) 17,100
Equity non-controlling interests 76,113 (8,042) 68,071
Loss for the financial year 9,058 (2,004,308

(2,013,366)

* results of jomnt-ventures are proportionally consolidated under IFRS
**now included within operating loss

***now included within other gans/losses
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limuted
Company balance sheet — under UK GAAP

As at 31 December 2010

Fixed assets
Investments

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiary companies

Total assets

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Accruals and deferred income

Borrowings

Provisions

Total liabilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital
Share premium account
Retained earmings

Share based payment reserve

Shareholders® funds

Note

44

45

46
47

48
49
50
51

2010 2009

£ £

1,092 1,002
1,092 1,092
5,660,724 4,679,774
5,661,816 4,680,866
(8,500)  (20,000)
(1,017,701) §
{1,036,592) -
(2,062,793)  (20,000)
3,599,023 4,660,866
1,369 1,327
4,679,500 4,679,500
(1,157,733)  (19,961)

75,887

3,599,023 4,660,866

The financial statements of Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited (Registration number 06947854) were approved by the
Board of Directors and authonsed for 1ssue ondSeptember 2011 They were signed on 1ts behalf by

7
G
Klaus Nyengz;ard

Director

3O September 2011
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Reconcihiation of movements on shareholders’ funds

At 31 December 2010

Balance at 1 January 2009

Current year result

Total comprehensive loss for the period
Shares 15sued
Shares cancelled

Balance at 31 December 2009
Current year result

Shares 1ssued
Credit to equity for equity-settled share based
payments

Balance at 31 December 2010

Share
Share Capital Premium Retained Total
Account Earnings Equty
£ £ £ £
1,000 - - 1,000
- - (19,961) (19,961)
(19,961) (19,961)
590 10,266,323 - 10,266,913
(263) (5,586,823) - (5,587,086)
1,327 4,679,500 (19,961) 4,660,866
- - (1,137,772) (1,137,772)
42 - - 42
- - 75,887 75,887
1,369 4,679,500 (1,081,846) 3,599,023
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

43.  Significant accounting polictes

Accounting convention

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention and 1n accordance with applicable United
Kingdom accounting standards The particular accounting pohicies adopted are described below They have all been
applied consistently throughout the year and the preceding year

Investments

Fixed asset wnvestments are shown at cost less provision for impaurment Current asset investments are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value

In the Company balance sheet, for investments in subsidiaries acquired for consideration including the 1ssue of shares
qualifying for merger rehef, cost 1s measured by reference to the nominal value only of the shares 1ssued Any
premium 1s 1gnored

Taxation

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, 15 provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered)
using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax 1s recogmsed n respect of all iming differences that have onginated but not reversed at the balance sheet
date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in
the future have occurred at the balance sheet date Timing differences are differences between the Group’s taxable
profits and 1ts results as stated n the financial statements that arise from the inclusion of gams and losses in tax
assessments mn penods different from those in which they are recognised 1n the financial statements

A net deferred tax asset 1s regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available
evidence, 1t can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future
reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted

Deferred tax 1s not recognised when fixed assets are revalued unless by the balance sheet date there is a binding
agreement to sell the revalued assets and the gam or loss expected to arise on sale has been recognised 1n the financial
statements Neither 1s deferred tax recogmsed when fixed assets are sold and 1t 1s more Iikely than not that the taxable
gain will be rolled over, being charged to tax only if and when the replacement assets are sold

Deferred tax 15 measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the timing
differences are expected to reverse based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date Deferred tax 1s measured on a non-discounted basis

Foreign currencies

Transactions 1n foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction Monetary assets
and habilities denominated 1n foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates of exchange
prevailing at that date

The results of overseas operations are translated at the average rates of exchange during the period and their balance
sheets at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date Exchange differences arising on translation of the opening net
assets and on the re-translations of results from average to closing rates are included within reserves All other
exchange differences are included 1n the profit and loss account
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the consohdated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

43.  Sigmficant accounting polictes (continued)

Leases

Assets held under finance leases and other similar contracts, which confer rights and obligations similar to those
attached to owned assets, are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms
and thewr useful hives The capital elements of future lease obligations are recorded as liabihties, while the nterest
elements are charged to the profit and loss account over the period of the leases to produce a constant rate of charge
on the balance of capital repayments outstanding Hire purchase transactions are dealt with sumilarly, except that
assets are depreciated over their useful lives

Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term, even 1f the payments are not
made on such a basis Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to sign an operaung lease are similarly spread
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where the period to the review date on which the rent 15 first
expected to be adjusted to the prevailing market rate 1s shorter than the full lease term, in which case the shorter
period 15 used

Convertible loan notes

The compoenent parts of compound instruments 1ssued by the Group are classified separately as financial liabilines and
equity 1n accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement On initial recording the financial hability
component 1s recorded at its fair value

At the date of issue, 1n the case of a convertible bond denominated in a local currency of the i1ssuer that may be
converted nto a fixed number of equity shares, the fair value of the hability component 1s estimate using the
prevaiting market interest rate for a sumlar non-convertible instrument The equity component 15 determined by
deducting the amount of the hability component from the fair value of the compound nstrument as a whole This 1s
recogmised and mcluded 1n equity and 1s not subsequently remeasured

Issue costs are apportioned between the hiability and equity components of the convertible instrument based on their
relative carrying amounts on the date of 1ssue The portion relating to the equity component 15 charged directly against
equity

The finance costs of the financial hability are recognised over the term of the debt at a constant rate on the carrying
amount

Derwvative Financial Instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to reduce exposure to foreign exchange nsk The Group does not hold
or 1ssue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes

Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement shows the Group cash flows for the year for operating activities, financing activities and
investing activities In the year, the change n cash and cash equivalents of the year and cash and cash equivalents at
beginning and end of the year

44.  Investments
Refer to note 16 n the consolidated financial statements for details of subsidiary holdings

45.  Financial assets
Amounts due from subsidiary ecompanies

At the balance sheet date amounts receivable from fellow group companies are £5,660,724 (2009 £4,679,774) The

carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value There are no past due or impaired receivable balances
(2009 ml)
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

46. Financial liabilities

Borrowings

Details of borrowings are given m note 21 to the consolidated financial statements Amounts recorded here relate to
convertible loan notes

47. Provisions

2010 2009
£ £
Long term employee incentive provision 1,036,592 -

1,036,592 -

Current 1,036,592 -
Non-current - -

1,036,592 -

Employee

long term

incentive
provision Total
£ £

Provision in the year 1,036,592 -

At 31 December 2010 1,036,592 -

In 2008, the Group 1ssued a cash settled share-based payment to certain employees A liability equal to the portion of
goods and services received 18 recognised at the current fair value of each balance sheet date Fair value 1s determined
based on an appropnate pricing model In 20190, these cash settled share based payments were cancelled and replaced
with a bonus scheme dependent on the subsidiary’s performance This scheme 1s due to be paid out in 2011

48.  Share capital

The movements on these items are disclosed 1n notes 25 to the consolidated financial statements

49.  Share premium

The movements 1n the reserve are disclosed 1n note 26 to the consolidated financial statements
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limted
Notes to the consohdated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2010

50. Retamed earmings

Balance at | January 2009
Net loss for the year

Balance at 1 January 2010
Net loss for the year

Balance at 31 December 2010

51.  Share based payment reserve

Balance at 1 January 2010
Credit to equuty for equity-settled share-based payments

Balance at 31 December 2010

Assumptions used in determumng fair value of financial assets and habilities

Convertible loan notes

£
(19,961)

(19,961)
(1,137,772)

(1,157,733)

—_—

75,887

75,887

The assumptions used in determining the fair value of the liabiity component of the convertible loan notes are stated

m note 21

69




